THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Feb 19 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

In Re: Application of Blue Granite Water Company
for Approval to Adjust Rate Schedules and Increase Rates Appellant.

South Carolina Public Service Commission Docket No. 2019-290-WS

Appellate Case No. 2020-001283

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Frank R. Ellerbe, III (Bar No. 1866)
Samuel J. Wellborn (Bar No. 101979)
ROBINSON GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE, LLC
1310 Gadsden Street (29201)
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Telephone: 803-929-1400
Email: fellerbe@robinsongray.com
swellborn@robinsongray.com

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Commission err in “amortizing” the utility’s annual ongoing purchased water and wastewater service expenses over several years, thus depriving the utility of recovery of most of such costs, rather than permitting the utility to recover those expenses when there is no evidence to suggest that those expenses were unreasonable or imprudent?
2. Did the Commission err in calculating the utility’s cost of capital by selecting a Return on Equity that is unsupported by evidence, fell well below the supported range of reasonable Returns on Equity, fails to satisfy tests established by longstanding and binding precedent, and which is confiscatory?
3. Did the Commission err in disallowing recovery of the utility’s prior Commission-related legal expenses based upon an unsupported, erroneous, and *sua sponte* finding that the expenses were either duplicative or duplicitous?
4. Did the Commission err in disallowing recovery of the utility’s prior Administrative Law Court-related legal expenses based upon an unsupported, erroneous, and *sua sponte* finding that the expenses could have been recovered in the underlying proceedings?
5. Did the Commission err in disallowing recovery of the utility’s storm recovery expenses by using a normalization method that would not cover and does not reflect the storm costs recently experienced by the utility?
6. Did the Commission err in disallowing recovery of the utility’s headquarters office rent expense and necessary upfit costs in contravention of the evidence in the record and binding precedent?
7. Did the Commission err in disallowing recovery of the utility’s non-revenue water expenses, a disallowance that forces the utility to either accept the disallowance as a penalty or make imprudent investments that are uneconomic for customers?
8. Did the Commission err in unlawfully staying the utility’s implementation of rates under bond while its appeal of the Commission’s decision is pending, despite clear statutory language and precedent to the contrary?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 2, 2019, after having provided due notice, Blue Granite Water Company (“Blue Granite” or the “Company”) filed an Application for Approval to Adjust Its Rate Schedules and Increase Rates (“Application”). The Commission scheduled seven public night hearings in Lexington, Irmo, Union, Anderson, Greenville, Columbia, and York between January 27, 2020 and March 5, 2020, cancelling one of these due to weather.¹ The Commission conducted an evidentiary hearing on the Application from February 26, 2020 through March 2, 2020. On March 19, 2020, the Company filed a letter with the Commission offering to delay the implementation of new rates until September 1, 2020 as related to the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on customers, even though the Commission was required under the applicable statute to issue an order on the Company’s rate Application in April 2020. On March 25, 2020, the Commission issued Order No. 2020-260, accepting the Company’s commitment not to implement new rates until September 1, 2020.

On April 9, 2020, in Order No. 2020-306, the Commission ruled on the Company’s Application, denying a significant portion of the rate relief sought by the Company. On April 29, 2020, Blue Granite filed a Petition for Rehearing or Reconsideration with the Commission. On May 28, 2020, the Commission voted on the Blue Granite Petition for reconsideration, largely maintaining its initial order.²

¹ The Company believes this to be a record number of public night hearings in a single rate case. The Commission set two for Duke Energy Progress’s most recent rate proceeding, and three for Dominion’s and Duke Energy Carolinas’s most recent rate proceedings, even though Blue Granite has only a nominal fraction of customers as compared to Dominion and the Duke companies.

² The Commission did not issue its order on reconsideration until September 23, 2020.

On June 8, 2020, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-240(D), the Company filed a motion for approval of a bond that would secure for customers the difference between the rates authorized by the Commission and the rates which the Company intended to implement under bond, in addition to annual interest. On July 15, 2020, the Commission approved the Company's motion for approval of the bond by a 6-0 vote. On August 7, 2020, the South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs (the "Consumer Advocate") filed a letter seeking clarification as to whether Blue Granite was permitted to implement rates under bond effective September 1, 2020 and expressing its concern as to the impact of the rates on consumers. The Company filed a response to the Consumer Advocate's letter on August 13, 2020, and filed its executed surety bond, procured from Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, on August 17, 2020.

On August 18, 2020, the Commission issued Order No. 2020-549, directing the Clerk's office to schedule oral arguments on the issues raised by the Consumer Advocate and staying the implementation of rates under bond "until further notice." Given the emerging uncertainty surrounding the Company's ability to recover the revenues associated with its rates under bond, on August 23, 2020, the Company filed a petition for approval of an accounting order to permit it to defer, in a regulatory asset account, the difference between the rates approved by the Commission on reconsideration and the rates it had planned to implement under bond. The Commission held oral arguments on August 27, 2020, and issued a Directive on August 31, 2020 maintaining its stay of the Company's rates under bond and granting the Company's request for an accounting order. On September 1, 2020, the Company implemented the rates authorized by the Commission on reconsideration.

On September 4, 2020, the Company filed a petition for reconsideration of Commission Order No. 2020-549, the order staying the implementation of the Company's rates under bond.

On September 16, 2020, the Commission approved a motion, memorialized in a Directive, denying the Company's petition for reconsideration.

On September 23, 2020, the Commission issued its final order on reconsideration of the rate proceeding, Order No. 2020-641, and the Company filed its Notice of Appeal with this Court on September 25, 2020. On September 28, 2020, the Company filed a Petition for a Writ of Supersedeas with this Court as related to the Commission's stay of the Company's implementation of rates under bond.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal, the Court may reverse or modify the Commission's decision if substantial rights of the Company have been prejudiced because the Commission's findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5). The Commission's decision-making is arbitrary if it is "without a rational basis, is based alone on one's will and not upon any course of reasoning and exercise of judgment, is made at pleasure, without adequate determining principles, or is governed by no fixed rules or standards." *Deese v. S.C. State Bd. of Dentistry*, 286 S.C. 182, 184, 332 S.E.2d 539, 541 (Ct.App. 1985); *Daufuskie Island Util. Co. v. S.C. Office of Regulatory Staff*, 427 S.C. 458, 463–64, 832 S.E.2d 572, 575 (2019).

Further, the Commission's order must articulate the basis for its decision-making:

An administrative body must make findings which are sufficiently detailed to enable this Court to determine whether the findings are supported by the evidence and whether the law has been applied properly to those findings. Where material facts are in dispute, the administrative body must make specific, express findings of fact. . . . [A] recital of conflicting testimony followed by a general conclusion is patently insufficient to enable a reviewing court to address the issues. We find the order in this case deficient because PSC made no findings of fact or offered any explanation of its conclusion.

Porter v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 333 S.C. 12, 21, 507 S.E.2d 328, 332 (1998); *see also Kiawah Prop. Owners Grp. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of S.C.*, 338 S.C. 92, 96, 525 S.E.2d 863, 865 (1999).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

As explained below, in its final order, the Commission made a series of errors and unsupported findings that seriously impacted the Company's rates and resulting revenue. After failing to correct these errors on reconsideration, resulting in unconscionably low revenues for the Company compared to its actual expenses, the Commission unlawfully enjoined the Company from implementing rates under bond. In the Company's view, the Commission's punishment of Blue Granite in this case falls well short of complying with this Court's recent directive that the Commission "carry out [its] important responsibilities consistently, within the objective and measurable framework the law provides." *Daufuskie Island Util. Co. v. S.C. Office of Regulatory Staff*, 427 S.C. 458, 464, 832 S.E.2d 572, 575 (2019) (citing *Utils. Servs. of S.C., Inc. v. S.C. Office of Regulatory Staff*, 392 S.C. 96, 113 (2011)). A summary of the Commission's errors is provided as follows:

- I. **"Amortization" of an Ongoing Expense** – With no supporting evidence or notice to the parties, the Commission "amortized" over a five-year period ongoing purchased water and wastewater service expenses rather than permitting the Company to update rates to reflect these currently incurred amounts. This erroneous rate treatment effectively disallows the Company's recovery of approximately \$2 million of its purchased service expenses with no finding of imprudence or explanation as to why the Commission deviated from the "test year" ratemaking model relied upon by the Commission and this Court for decades. This unwarranted exercise of discretion denies the Company its right to a reasonable opportunity to recover its prudently incurred costs of providing service.
- II. **Imposition of Unsupported and Confiscatory Return on Equity** – The Company proposed an ROE range from 9.75% to 10.25%; the S.C. Office of Regulatory Staff ("ORS") recommended an ROE of 9.45%; and the Consumer Advocate recommended an ROE of

8.65%. The Commission selected an ROE of 7.46%, which is, again, unsupported by evidence, and the Commission offered no substantive explanation or rationale for how it arrived at its determination. The Commission's ROE determination must fall within a range of reasonable ROEs that are supported by the evidence in the record, not below the range. Further, the Commission's punitive ROE fails the end results test set forth in binding precedent and is far below any other recent or contemporaneous ROE finding in the nation, underscoring both the arbitrary and capricious nature, and the confiscatory result, of the Commission's unsupported decision.

III. **Baseless Disallowance of Legal Expenses from Commission Proceedings** – The Commission's disallowance of legal expenses from two prior Commission proceedings as being purportedly duplicative has no evidentiary support in the record, was not proposed by any party, and is yet another example of unsupported and punitive decision-making. Further, because the Commission's *sua sponte* finding that the expenses were duplicative was the Commission's own novel invention in the final order, the Company was denied any opportunity to proffer evidence as to this issue.

IV. **Baseless Disallowance of Legal Expenses from Administrative Law Court Proceedings** – The Commission disallowed, with no support whatsoever, legal expenses incurred as a result of certain Administrative Law Court ("ALC") proceedings. This issue received no discussion in the Commission's final order, and there is no evidence in the record supporting the Commission's determination. Again, because the erroneous explanation provided in the directive (no explanation was provided in the final order) that the Company should have sought reimbursement within the condemnation case was the Commission's novel creation and was not at issue during the proceeding, the Company was given no opportunity to proffer evidence as to this issue.

- V. **Erroneous Storm Recovery Cost Expense Level** – The Commission’s disallowance of the Company’s storm costs and its imposition of ORS’s proposed 10-year storm cost normalization is yet another example of erroneous Commission decision-making intended to punish the Company. The evidence in the record demonstrates that the storm cost level established by the Commission would not cover and does not reflect the storm costs recently experienced by the Company. Further, the Commission’s rationale for this adjustment was simply that “there is disagreement among the parties,” providing no basis for its decision-making. The Commission, as it did frequently in this case, chose the storm cost level simply because it was the “lowest offer on the table,” not because it is the result of reasoned decision-making.
- VI. **Erroneous Disallowance of Headquarters Office Rent Expense and Upfit Costs** – The Commission completely disallowed the Company’s recovery of its headquarters office rent expense, as well as the associated upfit costs required to make the office “ready to work.” The disallowance ignores both the substantial evidence in the record and the presumption that a utility’s expenses are made in good faith and are reasonable. The disallowance also erroneously disregards the evidence in the record regarding the Company’s reasonable decision as to where to locate its office and usurps the utility’s business management decision-making authority.
- VII. **Erroneous Disallowance of Non-Revenue Water Expenses** – The Commission’s decision to disallow Blue Granite’s recovery of non-revenue water expenses of greater than 10% is characterized by an abuse of discretion or a clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion, and no evidence was proffered that overcame the presumption of the reasonableness of the Company’s water expenses. The evidence demonstrates that the Commission’s disallowance forces the Company to either accept the disallowance as a penalty or make

imprudent investments that are uneconomic for customers, a dilemma that is the product of unreasoned decision-making.

VIII. **Unlawful Stay of Rates Under Bond** – The Commission’s stay of the Company’s implementation of rates under bond was the final flourish on its series of erroneous and unlawful acts in this case. The Commission has, for more than a decade, found that it has no discretion as related to a utility’s implementation of rates under bond apart from approving the amount of the bond and the surety. The Commission, *in this very case*, made the same pronouncement that it “has no discretion other than to approve the amount of bond and the sureties” in a unanimous motion approving the bond. Nevertheless, ignoring the governing statute and its own consistent findings that it does not have authority as related to this issue, and after initially approving the bond, the Commission punitively stayed the Company’s implementation of rates under bond and unlawfully denied the Company’s access to those revenues.

ARGUMENTS

I. The Commission erred in “amortizing” ongoing purchased water and wastewater service expenses rather than reflecting these ongoing costs in rates.

Blue Granite provides water and wastewater services to its customers both through its own water and wastewater facilities and also by purchasing wholesale water and wastewater services from third parties (“Purchased Service Expenses”). These Purchased Service Expenses are part of the Company’s ongoing cost of providing service and are measurable like any other test year expense. As Purchased Service Expenses are ongoing, recurring expenses, they require ongoing recovery in rates at prudent cost levels. The test year ratemaking paradigm permits regulated entities to make “pro-forma adjustments” to their designated test year’s expense levels to reflect ongoing, prudent costs to provide service. Blue Granite presented undisputed evidence that it had incurred Purchased Service Expenses significantly beyond its test year levels, and proposed to include a pro-forma adjustment in its revenue requirement as part of its cost of service.³ Without explanation or evidentiary support, the Commission rejected the inclusion of these expenses in rates. Both the Company and ORS sought reconsideration of this issue, believing the Commission had made an error. As summarized in ORS’s petition for rehearing, the amount at issue “reflects the accounting treatment necessary to establish the purchased water and sewer expenses *going-forward* to current expense levels experienced by the Company.” ORS Petition for Rehearing at 4 (emphasis original) (R. p. 785). On reconsideration—again, inexplicably—rather than correct the error by updating the Company’s rates, the Commission “amortized” over five years the

³ This issue is linked to the non-revenue water issue discussed below in § VII. Blue Granite presented undisputed evidence that it had incurred \$2,553,472 in ongoing Purchased Service Expenses above its test year level, and proposed to include this amount in its revenue requirement as part of its cost of service. ORS agreed that such an adjustment was warranted, but proposed to adjust this amount based on its proposed 10% non-revenue water threshold, resulting in a Purchased Service Expense test year pro-forma adjustment of \$2,324,292. The Court’s treatment of these two issues will determine the figure appropriate for ultimate inclusion in rates.

adjustment to the ongoing expenses; that is, the Commission permitted rates to reflect only one-fifth of the ongoing increase in expenses. The Commission did not offer an explanation in its order on reconsideration as to how amortizing an ongoing expense makes any sense or has any precedent in a ratemaking context.⁴ More importantly, this bizarre and unexplained rate treatment results in a substantial disallowance for the Company and significant confusion on reconciling its authorized deferral mechanisms.

As previously articulated by the Commission and by this Court, the purpose of using a test year in ratemaking “is to permit sufficient and accurate cost recovery as the expenses are incurred by the utility in real-time. In other words, the purpose of this ratemaking exercise of using a test year and making appropriate adjustments is to match—as closely as possible—the utility’s revenue to the costs it will incur after the rates are implemented.” Order No. 2019-323, Docket No. 2018-319-E at 15-16 (May 21, 2019) (citing *Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 270 S.C. 590, 602 (1978)); *see also Parker v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 280 S.C. 310, 312, 313 S.E.2d 290, 292 (1984) (“The object of test year figures is to reflect typical conditions.”). The Commission, without explanation ignored the test year paradigm for purposes of the Company’s ongoing Purchased Service Expenses. Further exacerbating the incomprehensibility of the Commission’s action, the Commission applied this treatment only to the pro-forma adjustment portion of the Purchased Service Expense amount, rather than to the entire amount in a consistent fashion, without any explanation or underlying logic. This has the effect of disallowing a significant portion of Blue Granite’s annual, ongoing level of Purchased Service Expenses, with

⁴ The Commission erroneously treated the Company’s ongoing expenses for purchased water and sewer treatment the same as the Company’s past, discrete amount of the same type of expenses that had been deferred in a regulatory asset account. While recovery of a deferred amount is appropriately recovered over a multi-year period, there is no logic or precedent supporting the “amortization” of an ongoing expense such as that discussed herein. The Company explained the error in its request for rehearing, but the Commission failed to correct the error.

no evidence, no finding of unreasonableness or imprudence, and—because it was the Commission’s own post-hearing invention—no opportunity for the Company to present evidence as to why this novel ratemaking treatment should not be utilized. To be clear, no party to the proceeding proposed this ratemaking treatment and no party supported it on reconsideration.

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