RECEIVED

Feb 23 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM
THE SOUTH CAROLINA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2020-001283
Public Service Commission Docket No. 2019-290-WS

In Re: Application of Blue Granite Water Company for Approval to Adjust Rate Schedules and Increase Rates

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS

Carri Grube Lybarker (Bar No. 73744)
Roger P. Hall (Bar No. 74203)
Connor J. Parker (Bar No. 101569)
S.C. Department of Consumer Affairs
293 Greystone Boulevard, Suite 400
Post Office Box 5757
Columbia, South Carolina 29250-5757
Telephone: 803-734-4200
Email: clybarker@scconsumer.gov

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE COMMISSION DETERMINED AN APPROPRIATE RETURN ON EQUITY FOR BLUE GRANITE BASED ON SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND A REVIEW OF THE WHOLE RECORD AND ARTICULATED A RATIONAL BASIS FOR ITS CONCLUSION.

As the Commission noted in its order –

It is the responsibility, duty and delegated charge granted by the Legislature for the Commission to weigh the evidence and to draw “the ultimate conclusion therefrom as to what return is necessary to enable a utility to attract capital It has been said many times that this is so because the Commission is a body of experts ‘composed of men [and women] of special knowledge, observation, and experience’ in the field of rate regulation.”

(R. p. 275). Citing S. Bell Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n, 270 S.C. 590, 597, 244 S.E.2d 278, 282 (1978); holding modified by Parker v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n, 280 S.C. 310, 313 S.E.2d 290 (1984).

The Return on Equity (“ROE”) is one portion of a utility’s revenue requirement. A utility’s revenue requirement is the amount of money it must earn in a test year in order to provide adequate service to its customers and a fair return for its shareholders or investors. (R. pp. 1074, line 12-p. 1075, line 11). It is the sum of its expenses (operating, taxes, and depreciation) and return on rate base (rate base x overall rate of return). Id. The overall rate of return includes the cost of debt (e.g., interest rate on money borrowed from a bank) and the cost of equity (also known as the “return on equity” or ROE). Id. The ROE is the amount investors are authorized to earn.

Public utilities are natural monopolies and regulation by the Commission, as opposed to the competitive marketplace, determines the authorized rate of return. (R. p. 897, lines 4-6).

A public utility is entitled to such rates as will permit it to earn a return on the value of the property which it employs for the convenience of the public equal to that generally being made at the same time and in the same general part of the country on investments in other business undertakings which are attended by corresponding risks and uncertainties.

Bluefield Water Works & Improvement Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 262 U.S. 679, 692, 43 S. Ct. 675, 679 (1923). The Commission utilizes the principles established in seminal utility rate cases like Bluefield and Federal Power Comm'n v. Hope Natural Gas Co. to establish rates that are fair, just, and reasonable for the company as well as the customers.

The Commission must set “just and reasonable” rates using “fair and enlightened judgment, having regard to all relevant facts.” Federal Power Comm'n v. Hope Natural Gas Co., 320 U.S. 591, 603, 64 S. Ct. 281, 288 (1944) (“The rate-making process under the Act, i.e., the fixing of ‘just and reasonable’ rates, involves the balancing of investor and the consumer interests.”); Bluefield Water Works Improvement Co. v. Public Serv. Comm'n, 262 U.S. 679, 692, 43 S. Ct. 675, 679 (1923). Given the Commission’s experience in utility rate regulation, the Court has noted it “has neither the expertise nor the authority to fix the rate of return to which a public utility is entitled...[e]ven if [the Court] might have found a different rate of return to be fair and reasonable...” S. Bell Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 270 S.C. 590, 597, 244 S.E.2d 278, 282 (1978).

Blue Granite, like many other regulated utilities, does not sell shares in the public marketplace; therefore, in order to establish a ROE or range of ROEs that meet these principles, the company and other parties in a rate case present expert witnesses for the Commission to consider. There were three ROE witnesses presented in this Docket: Blue Granite witness D’Ascendis, ORS witness Parcell, and Department witness Rothschild. (R. p. 280). Upon review of the Commission’s order in this matter, with regard to the ROE, it is apparent the Commission focused its examination on Department witness Rothschild and Company witness D’Ascendis. Based on its review of the entire record, including each witness’ methodologies, critiques of one another, and the past performance of the Company, the Commission rightly adopted a ROE from

witness Rothschild’s recommended range of reasonable ROEs and further determined D’Ascendis lacked transparency. Therefore, the Court should uphold the Commission’s determination that a 7.46% ROE is just and reasonable.

A. Rothschild presented a ROE range of 7.46% - 8.75%.

The Commission must determine a rate of return, and therefore a ROE, “based exclusively on reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.” S.C. Code Ann § 58-5-240(H). “Substantial evidence is relevant evidence that, considering the record as a whole, a reasonable mind would accept to support an administrative agency’s action.” Porter v. S.C. PSC, 333 S.C. 12, 20, 507 S.E.2d 328, 332 (1998).

Contrary to the assertions of Blue Granite, the record clearly shows Department witness Rothschild presented a ROE range. As indicated in his testimony and shown in the table below, the high-end results of Rothschild’s three ROE (or cost of equity) models range between 6.96% and 9.68%, averaging 8.75%. (R. p. 955). The low-end results of the models range between 5.72% and 8.34%, averaging 7.46%, the ROE chosen by the Commission. (R. p. 954, line 5-p. 955, line 3).

	Low	High
DCF - CONSTANT GROWTH	8.34%	8.76%
DCF - NON-CONSTANT GROWTH	5.72%	6.96%
CAPM		
Risk Free Rate - 3-Month T Bill	7.76%	9.59%
Risk Free Rate - 30-yr T Bond	8.02%	9.68%
Range	7.46%	8.75%

Source: Schedule ALR 2

In his pre-filed testimony, Rothschild did emphasize an 8.65% ROE for Blue Granite.¹⁰ However, upon questioning by the Commission at the hearing, it was clear he considered the ranges provided by his models to be both reasonable and to satisfy the requirements of Hope and Bluefield. The following is an excerpt of the Commission's questioning of Mr. Rothschild:

Q: Mr. Rothschild, is there any particular reason that you recommended point estimates for the company's ROE and cost of capital rather than the interval estimate?

A: (ROTHSCHILD) Why did I recommend 8.65 instead of -- instead of a range?

Q: Yeah.

A: (ROTHSCHILD) I have -- I've -- sometimes in testimonies, I've provided ranges if that's helpful, and often people have asked for something precise. That -- that is the number that I came up to based on my analysis, and I show the justification. I appreciate your question, because to assume that -- that this exercise is that precise is an excellent question, so I think you generally can't say it's 8.65 or 8.61. **So there are various ranges that I do show in my testimony that I hope would help understand a range that's reasonable.**

(R. p. 1048, lines 1-19) (emphasis added).

In his surrebuttal testimony, Rothschild also explains:

As with other tools and methodologies we use regularly, option-implied betas are not a silver bullet and should be used in conjunction with other valid approaches to determine ranges of reasonableness for the cost of equity. The more valid tools we use, the more we can narrow down or confirm these ranges of reasonableness to ensure a more accurate result.

(R. p. 1038, lines 6-10).

As detailed above, the ROE range Rothschild presented to the Commission in his direct testimony and during the hearing was 7.46% to 8.75%. Notably, he ends his pre-filed surrebuttal

¹⁰ Based on his modeling results, Rothschild, like many ROE witnesses, included both a recommended range and a specific number within that range as part of his recommendations. ("I chose the upper end of my range. As you can see in the Table 4, the range is between -- well, 746 and 875. And in terms of the average of -- of the -- of that range, it was in the higher end." (R. p. 1046, line 22-p. 1047, line 1)). Similarly, witness Parcell recommended a range and a midpoint. "These results indicate an overall broad range of 6.2 percent to 10.0 percent. I recommend a ROE range of 8.9 percent to 10.0 percent for BGWC. This range includes my DCF result (8.9 percent), and my CE result (10.0 percent). Specifically, I recommend a cost of equity of 9.45 percent for BGWC, the mid-point of this range." (R. p. 1081, lines 5-8).

testimony by stating, “[i]f adopted, my cost recommendations would allow [Blue Granite] to raise the capital it needs to provide safe and reliable service because my recommendations are consistent with investors’ return expectations.” (R. p. 1045, lines 13-15). Additionally, when providing a summary of his testimony at the hearing, Rothschild stated “[m]y recommendations satisfy the requirements of Hope and Bluefield that regulated utility companies should have an opportunity to earn a return commensurate with returns on investments in other enterprises having corresponding risks.” (R. p. 942, line 23-p. 943, line 3).

The Commission sought clarification from Mr. Rothschild regarding his recommendations. Mr. Rothschild found his recommended range (7.46% to 8.75%) reasonable and the Commission, after review of the entire record, determined 7.46% was appropriate for the Company. Therefore, the Court should uphold that determination.

B. The Commission weighed the evidence presented and found the Department’s witness to be the most credible and compelling.

The Commission has wide latitude to determine an appropriate rate-setting methodology. Heater of Seabrook, Inc. v. Public Service Comm’n, 324 S.C. 56, 478 S.E.2d 826 (1996). “What annual rate will constitute just compensation depends upon many circumstances and must be determined by the exercise of a fair and enlightened judgment, having regard to all relevant facts.” S. Bell Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Com., 270 S.C. 590, 595 244 S.E.2d 278, 281 (1978), quoting Bluefield, 262 U.S. at 692, 43 S. Ct. at 679 (1923) .

“A trier of fact is not compelled to accept an expert’s opinion, but may give it the weight he determines it deserves.” Florence Cty. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Ward, 310 S.C. 69, 72-73, 425 S.E.2d 61, 63 (Ct. App. 1992) (citing to Berkeley case below). “Where the expert’s testimony is based upon facts sufficient to form the basis for an opinion, the trier of fact determines its probative value.” Berkeley Elec. Coop. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Com, 304 S.C. 15, 20, 402 S.E.2d 674, 677

(1991). Similarly, the fact finder determines the weight to be given testimony. See Davenport v. Walker, 280 S.C. 588, 591, 313 S.E.2d 354, 356 (Ct. App. 1984).

The Commission sits as the fact-finder during the rate case hearing. Like any other fact finder, it must weigh the evidence and credibility of the witnesses. In determining the 7.46% ROE, the Commission noted the “cost of common equity nationally is on the decline” and cited to Rothschild’s testimony which discussed then current market conditions, the low risks of regulated water companies, and low interest rates generally. (R. pp. 278-279). See also (R. p. 959). The Commission further found “[a]mongst the three witnesses, Consumer Affairs Rothschild’s approach was unique in that he included the use of both historical and forward-looking, market-based data in his analysis.” (R. p. 284). Additionally, “Rothschild addressed Blue Granite witness D’Ascendis’ criticisms regarding his use of current market data to determine cost of capital by pointing out that witness D’Ascendis relies on non--market based data (Blue Chip consensus interest rate forecasts) in his analysis. Tr. p. 581, ln 25 - p.582, ln 6.” (R. p. 282, footnote 13). See also (R. p. 1023, line 6-p. 1045, line 9).

Rothschild offered an in-depth discussion of his three models, including a step by step demonstration of how his calculations were made. (R. p. 972-p. 997, line 11). Further, he provided a detailed critique of D’Ascendis modeling methods and results, including, among other criticisms, that D’Ascendis’ recommendation is “above (1) return expectations indicated by market data (e.g. stocks, bonds, options), [and] (2) return expectations published by major financial institutions...” due to his inclusion of non-utility, non-price regulated companies. (R. p. 955, line 7-p. 956, line 1). See also (R. p. 956, line 3-p. 957, line 15).

A key component of the Commission’s analysis of D’Ascendis’ testimony was his use of 14 non-utility, non-price regulated companies in his proxy group. Some of the non-price regulated

companies D’Ascendis included were AutoZone, Cracker Barrel, Cheesecake Factory, Dollar General, and Philip Morris. (R. pp. 1201-1203, 1205-1207). The Commission rightfully raised this concern with D’Ascendis’ modeling efforts as it contradicts the holding in Bluefield that requires a public utility’s authorized return be equal to “investments in other business undertakings which are attended by *corresponding risks and uncertainties; but it has no constitutional right to profits such as are realized or anticipated in highly profitable enterprises or speculative ventures...*” Bluefield Water Works & Improvement Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n, 262 U.S. 679, 692-93, 43 S. Ct. 675, 679 (1923) (emphasis added).

The Commission found Company Witness D’Ascendis’ recommendations to be too high as the 14 non-price regulated companies had “an average unadjusted beta that is twenty-five percent (25%) higher than his Water Proxy Group...” (R. pp. 282-283). See also (R. p. 930, lines 16-19)¹¹ and (R. pp. 1202-1203, 1206-1207).¹² The Commission further noted Rothschild “applies cost of equity models using water utility companies without the influence of non-utility companies” and “demonstrated flawed ROE calculations based upon non-utility business[es] by Blue Granite witness [D’Ascendis].” (R. p. 279; R. p. 369).

D’Ascendis was the only witness to use a non-price regulated proxy group. (R. p. 920, lines 10-13). Both ORS witness Parcell and Department witness Rothschild criticized this. (R. pp. 999-1000; R. p. 1082, lines 12-18). The Commission summarized its assessment of the ROE witnesses as follows:

¹¹ “Beta is a measure of the relative volatility (and thus risk) of a particular stock in relation to the overall market. Betas less than 1.0 are considered less risky than the market, whereas betas greater than 1.0 are riskier. Utility stocks traditionally have had betas below 1.0.” (R. p. 1079, lines 15-18).

¹² DWD-6 shows the average unadjusted beta for the utility proxy group is 0.48. The average for the non-utility group is 0.6. In other words, compared to the market as a whole, the non-utility group is 25% more risky than the utility group. (R. pp. 1202-1203, 1206-1207).

We find the methodology and analysis performed by Consumer Affairs witness Rothschild, which clearly and appropriately applied three different equity models to his Water Proxy Group, to be more thorough and compelling in this case. Having considered all evidence presented by the parties, the Commission finds that Consumer Affairs witness Rothschild presented a compelling, reasonable analysis regarding Blue Granite's Cost of Capital and Return on Equity. Tr. pp. 672.3-672.75.

Also, Consumer Affairs witness Rothschild fully rebutted witness D'Ascendis' testimony, offering a more comprehensive and transparent application of his Constant Growth DCF, Non-Constant Growth DCF, and CAPM models to his proxy group.

(R. p. 282). The Commission concluded the "analysis and testimony provided by Consumer Affairs witness Rothschild is credible, compelling, unbiased and without prejudice in balancing the interests of the consumer and the utility by allowing the utility the opportunity to earn a 7.46% return on equity. *See*, Tr. pp. 672.8-672.10." (R. p. 367).

Blue Granite contends "the Commission's finding that only water utilities may be proxy companies in cost of equity analyses is arbitrary and capricious, given its findings in other cases." Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 17. This is a gross mischaracterization of the Commission's findings. The Commission did not find that only water utilities may be a proxy. D'Ascendis very well could have used non-utility companies in his group, if they were comparable in risk to Blue Granite. The Commission only found, as did witnesses Rothschild and Parcell, that the companies are not comparable in risk.

Based on the testimony provided by the three ROE witnesses, the Commission properly found the non-utility companies used in D'Ascendis' models did not possess similar risks and uncertainties to Blue Granite and therefore, were not appropriate for comparison. This factor combined with the testimony provided by Rothschild serve as sufficient bases for the 7.46% ROE, thus this Court should affirm the Commission's ruling.

C. The Commission determined the Company witness lacked transparency/credibility.

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